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West Virginia Executive Mansion

After much thought, study and
conversation with Cass Gilbert,
Charleston architect Walter F.
Martens presented his sketches of
a Georgian Colonial dwelling for
the proposed new governor’s
mansion. To Marten’s surprise
his drawings were chosen and he
supervised its construction from
1924 to 1925. The West Virginia
Executive Mansion is of red Har -
vard colonial brick laid in
Flemish bond with black headers,
is fronted by a central, two-story
portico with a bracketed pediment
that is supported by four free
standing and two engaged fluted
Corinthian columns. The arched
entranceway, painted white to
complement the brickwork as is
all trim, frames a delicate fanlight
above the door.

On either side of the structure,
and extending about one-third of
the depth, are porches surround-
ed by a low balustrade and rows
of columns which rise to support
a flat roof onto which several sec-
ond floor rooms open. These sec-
ond floor balconies also have low
balustrades with interesting
designs in wood. The porch to the
east is open, while that toward
the west is enclosed. A single
story entranceway at the rear bal-
ances the central, front portico.

A bracketed cornice circles the
house above the second floor, and
third floor dormers pleasingly jut
from the indented, slate-shingled
mansard roof. The third story was
not included when the mansion
was first built, but original plans
called for it and it was added in
1946. Completing the grounds,
the enclosed gardens and a garage
over which are the servant quar-
ters were added in 1926, and they
each complement the mansion
while functioning in their own
right as distinct elements.

As one enters through the main
portico, he is immediately struck
by the checkered black Belgian
and white Tennessee marble floor

which is flanked by well-
proportioned, dual Georgian
staircases, a design inspired by
architectural studies of the White
House. The main floor also houses
the elegantly designed and fur-
nished drawing room, ballroom,
State dining room, a sitting room
and the library. Eight bedrooms
and four baths, including the
Governor’s private quarters and
family room, are located on the
second floor, and the third floor
contains two additional bedrooms.

This new governor’s home was
the second owned by the state;
the first had been purchased in
1893 and was located downtown
close to the capitol building that
burned in 1921. Before the admin-
istration of Governor MacCorkle
from 1893 to 1897, West Virginia
governors had to house them-
selves. Gover nor Morgan first
occupied the new mansion only
one week prior to the expiration
of his term. It has housed each
governor since.

Top: West Virginia’s first Executive Mansion.

Bottom: Front entrance to the present Executive Mansion.
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Top: Senate Chamber near completion. June 1931.
Middle: Senate Chamber, September 2011.
Bottom: House of Delegates Chamber, September 2011.
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Bronze door, entrance from the south portico,

February 2009.
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Cass Gilbert was born at Zanes -
ville, Ohio, November 24, 1859,
the son of Samuel Augustus and
Elizabeth Fulton (Wheeler) Gilbert,
and the grandson of Charles
Champion Gilbert, the first mayor
of Zanesville. Cass Gilbert’s father
was a decorated officer of the U. S.
Coast Survey, and attained the
rank of brigadier-general of the
44th Ohio volunteer infantry dur-
ing the Civil War. The son received
his early education in St. Paul,
Minnesota, and later studied archi-
tecture at the Massachusetts
Institute of Technology, where he
received the prize of the Boston
Society of Architects in 1879. After
a period of advanced study in
Europe his professional career
began in the employ of McKim,
Mead & White, architects of New
York City. He later established an
office in St. Paul in partnership
with James Knox Taylor; after win-
ning the competition for the U. S.
Custom House in New York City,
he opened a branch office there
and after 1899 made that city his
headquarters.

Gilbert did not confine himself
to any one type of architecture but
adapted in an individual manner
whatever style seemed most ap -
propriate to the subject at hand.
The distinctive feature of all his
work was its peculiarly American
character and his own logical

adaptations of principles of de sign.
Among other things he was a pio-
neer of the modern skyscraper.
When he designed the sixty-story
Woolworth building in New York
City (1912), it was a venture into
the unknown, and the building that
rose 792 feet was widely acclaimed
as both a successful financial oper-
ation and as the prime example of
Gothic beauty for early twentieth-
century America.

Among his other notable works
were the state capitols of Min -
nesota, Arkansas and West Virginia;
the U. S. Army Supply Base; U. S.
Treasury Annex; building of the
U. S. Chamber of Commerce at
Washington, D. C.; New York Life
Insurance Building at New York
City; public libraries in St. Louis,
Detroit and New Haven; one of the
Prudential Life Insurance buildings
in Newark; Essex County Court
House in Newark; the St. Louis Art
Museum; Suffolk Savings Bank in
Boston; City Hall in Waterbury,
Connecticut; Union Central Life
Insurance Building in Cincinnati;
Federal Reserve Bank in Min ne -
apolis; Scott Memorial Fountain in
Detroit; Seaside Hospital in Water -
ford, Connecticut; United States
Legation in Ottawa; the U. S. Court
House in New York; and the U. S.
Supreme Court Building, which he
considered his outstanding achieve -
ment. He also made the general

plans for the buildings of the
Universities of Minnesota and
Texas, made planning commission
reports for the future layout of the
city of New Haven and was con-
sulting architect of the George
Wash ington and the Kill Van Kull
bridges for the Port of New York
Authority.

Gilbert’s work is noted for its
simplicity, just proportions,
 beauty and refinement. Much that
he did was built to endure—monu-
ments that will carry the evidence
of his genius as an architect for
generations to come. A man of
scrupulous honesty, he was actuat-
ed, in his public building designs,
to prove that public funds could be
spent honestly. He was a member
of many national committees, lec-
tured frequently and was the recip-
ient of various honorary degrees
and awards. President Theodore
Roosevelt appointed him chairman
of the Council of Fine Arts in 1909;
he designed the festival hall and
art building at the Louisiana
Purchase Exposition in St. Louis in
1904; and he was awarded the fol-
lowing decorations: grand gold
medal for architecture at the Paris
exhibition in 1900, gold medal of
the city of Liepzig in 1913, medal
of King Albert of Belgium in 1920,
chevalier of the Legion of Honor of
France in 1924, and the gold
medals of the Society of Arts and
Sciences, Architectural League of
New York and American Institute
of Arts and Letters in 1931.

Biographical Sketch of the Architect



In person Gilbert was tall,
strongly built, and of attractive
personality and genial disposition.
He had the energy that is requisite
for great undertakings, and it was
said of him that he would have
been great in any business or pro-
fession. He liked to help others,
and many prominent architects
began their practice in his office.
His ambition in life was to make
the world a little more beautiful
and those with whom he came in
contact a little more happy for his
having lived. He was fond of out-
door life, especially golf and fish-
ing, and took two months away
from work each year to travel the
world studying architectural forms
and ancient ruins. He firmly
believed that he could accomplish
more in ten months of the year
than he could by working continu-
ously for twelve months, and advo-
cated that this interim away from
his labors was necessary for the
regeneration of his mental
prowess. Although deeply reli-
gious, he was not affiliated with
any church.

He was married November 29,
1887, to Julia Tappen, daughter of
a Milwaukee lawyer, and they had
four children: Emily Finch,
Elizabeth Wheeler (who died
young), Julia Swift and Cass
Gilbert, Jr. His death occurred in
Brockenhurst, England, May 17,
1934.
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Capitol Building Commission
Members

Original commissioners (1921-1925)

Governor Ephraim F. Morgan
Gohen C. Arnold (President of the Senate 1921-1923)
from Buckhannon

Edwin M. Keatley (Speaker of the House of Delegates
1921-1922) from Charleston

William McKell from Glen Jean
Herbert Fitzpatrick from Huntington
Fred M. Staunton from Charleston
N. Price Whitaker from Wheeling
Houston G. Young (Secretary of State 1921-1925)
from Charleston

(McKell resigned in 1922 and was replaced by Harry
P. Camden from Parkersburg; Whitaker died in 1922
and was replaced by Virgil L. Highland from
Clarksburg; Highland resigned in 1923 and was
replaced by George A. Laughlin from Wheeling; Young
resigned position of secretary to the commission in
1923 and Bonner Hill of Charleston was appointed)

Commission under the Gore administration
(1925-1929)

Governor Howard M. Gore
Retained: Arnold Staunton

Camden Keatley
Fitzpatrick Laughlin

(Camden died in 1925 and was replaced by former
governor William A. MacCorkle from Charleston;
Staunton died in 1926 and was replaced by Mrs. J. T.
(Daisy M.) Peadro from Parkersburg)

Commission under the Conley administration
(1929-1932)

Governor William G. Conley
Retained: Arnold Peadro

MacCorkle Keatley
Fitzpatrick Laughlin

Added:  M. Z. White (President of the Senate 1925-
1933) from Williamson

J. William Cummins (Speaker of the House
of Delegates 1929-1932) from Wheeling

Boyd Jarrell from Huntington
C. W. Dillon from Fayetteville

(MacCorkle died in 1930 and was replaced by Charles
K. Payne from Charleston)
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Capitol Building Commission with Governor Conley (fourth from right) and architect Cass Gilbert (sixth from right), January 1932.
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The West Virginia Capitol: Project of Five Governors
John Jacob Cornwell

Term of office 1917-1921;
governor when downtown
 capitol burned in January of
1921; called Legislature into
extraordinary session to com-
mence plans for new facilities

Ephraim Franklin Morgan
Term of office 1921-1925;

 appointed original building
commission; west wing and

governor’s mansion completed
at end of his term; only gover-
nor to occupy both mansions

Howard Mason Gore
Term of office 1925-1929;

east wing completed during his
term; governor when “Paste -
board Capitol” burned in March
of 1927

William Gustavus Conley
Term of office 1929-1933;

main unit completed during his
term; governor at time of dedi-
cation on June 20, 1932

William Alexander MacCorkle
Term of office 1893-1897;

served on building commission
from 1925 until his death in
1930; longtime civic leader in
Charleston; presided over cor-
nerstone ceremony for east
wing in November of 1926  

Office of the Senate President (left) and House Speaker (right), 2011.
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Mythological Figures in the
Carved Heads

(Roman names in bold type—Greek in italics)

Entrance to East Wing from the Circle

Hera (Juno)
Wife and sister of Jupiter; queen of
the gods; goddess of marriage and
children; the calends (firsts) of the
months were sacred to her as were
the ides sacred to Jupiter

(Prometheus)
Titan who taught mankind the use
of fire against the will of Zeus;
punished by being chained to a
rock where a vulture ate away at
his liver; symbol of suffering and
strength resisting wrong

(Perseus)
Son of Zeus and slayer of Medusa;
married Andromeda after rescuing
her from a sea monster; they are
joined for eternity in the constella-
tion Cassiopeia
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Located at the East Entrance to the Main Building

Entrance to West Wing from the Circle

West Entrance of the Main Building

Mercury (Hermes)
Messenger of Jupiter; god of com-
merce; gymnastics; endeavors
requiring skill and dexterity;
inventor of the lyre

Vulcan (Hephaestus)
The celestial artist; son of Jupiter
and Juno; husband of Venus;
forger of thunderbolts; architect;
smith; armorer; chariot-builder

Minerva (Pallas Athene)
Goddess of wisdom; daughter of
Jupiter; the divinity associated
with the useful and ornamental
arts

Fortuna
The goddess of fortune or chance;
holder of a double rudder that
steered the courses of man’s des-
tiny

Jupiter (Zeus)
Ancient god of the heavens; most
prominent of the Olympic deities;
king of gods and men; bearer of the
magic shield Aegis; eagles bore his
thunderbolts

Hercules
Son of Jupiter and the mortal
Alcoma; persecuted by his father’s
jealous queen (Hera); completed
twelve labors to escape her wrath
and was considered the champion
of the earth

Vesta (Hestia)
Goddess of the hearth; guardian of
family life; her temple's fires were
kindled by rays of the sun and
maintained by Vestal Virgins

Neptune (Poseidon)
Reigning god of the oceans and
rivers; bearer of the trident; cre-
ator of horses and patron of horse
races

Ceres (Demeter)
Goddess of agriculture; daughter
of Saturn and Rhea; bestower of
grains and knowledge of agricul-
ture upon mankind; mother of
Proserpine; most revered of all
goddesses
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Summary of Facts Concerning the Capitol
Chronology of early capitol locations
Wheeling—1863-1870 (Linsly Institute Building)

Charleston—1870-1875 (first downtown capitol)

Wheeling—1875-1885 (Linsly Institute May 1875 to
December 1876; structure built by city of Wheeling
December 1876 to May 1885)

Charleston—1885-present (second downtown capitol
May 1885 to January 1921;

Pasteboard Capitol March 1921 to March 1927)

Chronology of present capitol complex
West wing—groundbreaking January 1924

laying of cornerstone May 1924
completion March 1925

East wing—groundbreaking July 1926
laying of cornerstone November 1926
completion December 1927

Main unit—groundbreaking March 1930
laying of cornerstone November 1930
completion February 1932
dedication June 20, 1932

Costs per unit
West wing—$1,218,171.32 (71¢ per cubic foot)

East wing—$1,361,425.00 (77¢ per cubic foot)

Main unit—$4,482,623.21 (65¢ per cubic foot)

Total outlay including land acquisition and
 beautification—$9,491,180.03

Dimensions
West wing—300 feet by 60 feet

(four stories and basement)

East wing—300 feet by 60 feet
(four stories and basement)

Main unit—558 feet by 120 feet
(three stories and basement)

Connecting wings—95 feet by 56 feet
(one story and basement)

Dome—292 feet high
75 feet in diameter
180 feet from ground floor to interior ceiling

Materials
Exterior walls (wings and main unit)—Indiana select
buff limestone

Dome—lead coated with copper, covered with gold leaf

Interior floors and walls (wings)—Tennessee marble

Interior walls (main unit)—Imperial Danby Vermont
marble

Interior floors (main unit)—Italian travertine inlaid
with Imperial Danby

Exterior columns and carvings—Indiana select buff
limestone

Interior columns and carvings—Imperial Danby

Lighting pedestals (rotunda and foyers)—Belgian black
and gold marble

Lighting pedestals (Senate chamber)—Italian brown
marble

Lighting pedestals (House chambers)—Pink Georgian
marble from France

Light bowls—Italian alabaster

Chambers’ wainscotting, and steps to daises—verd
antique marble

Legislative desks and daises—black walnut

Supreme Court bench and all furnishings—American
walnut

Interior doors and woodwork—quartered oak

Significa
Ground occupied—sixteen acres

Floor space—535,000 square feet

Outside walls—314,000 cubic feet; 700 carloads

Steel construction—4,640 tons; 160 carloads

Chandelier in dome—weighs 4,000 pounds; 15,000
candle power

Chandeliers in legislative chambers—10,000 pieces of
rock crystal each

Columns in porticoes—limestone; 86 tons each

Columns in foyers—solid marble; 34 tons each

Bronze doors on porticoes—2,800 pounds each
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Above left: Arches in Senate Chamber

(leaf clusters within the arche contain white

pine cones with pine needles and goosber-

ry leaves, white oak leaves and blossoms;

the three arrangements are repeated). 

Left: Office of the Govenor 2011.

Above: Govenor’s reception room.
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Glossary of Architectural Terms Used
arch—curved structure used as a support over an open
space

architrave—beam resting directly on the tops of
columns; the bottom section of the entablature

baluster—any of the singular posts of a railing

balustrade—row of columns supporting a railing

coffer—decorative sunken panel in a ceiling or dome

colonnade—series of columns set at regular intervals

column—cylindrical support consisting of base, shaft
and capital (cap)

Corinthian—the most elaborate of the three orders of
Greek architecture, distinguished by a bell-shaped cap-
ital with a design of acanthus leaves

cornice—the top section of the entablature; a horizontal
molding projecting along the top of a building or wall

cupola—a small dome or similar structure on a roof

dais—raised platform at the end of a room or chamber

dome—roof formed by a series of rounded arches or
vaults on a round or many-sided base

Doric—the oldest architectural style of ancient Greece;
characterized by simplicity of form; fluted, heavy
columns and simple capitals

entablature—a horizontal superstructure supported by
columns and composed of architrave, frieze and cor-
nice

fasces—bundle of rods bound about an ax; sculpted or
carved depiction of same; Roman symbol of power and
authority

frieze—the horizontal band forming the middle section
of the entablature; usually decorated with sculpture

guilloche—ornamental trim formed by intertwining
bands

Ionic—Greek style of architecture characterized by orna-
mental scrolls on the capitals

lantern—open structure on a roof or in a tower or dome
that admits light and air

mansard roof—a roof with two slopes on each of the
four sides, the lower steeper than the upper

parapet—a low wall or railing on a balcony or bridge

pediment—a low-pitched gable or decorative triangular
piece on the front of a building above a doorway or
 portico

pendentive bracket—vaulting area that serves to con-
nect an angle of a square area enclosed by four arches
with a dome resting upon the arches

pilaster—a rectangular support projecting slightly from
a wall, treated architecturally as a column

plinth—the square block at the base of a column,
pedestal or statue

porte cochere—driveway under or through a portion of
a building

portico—a porch or covered walk consisting of a roof
supported by columns

rotunda—the round hall or room surmounted by a dome

terra cotta—a hard, brown-red earthenware, usually
unglazed, used for ornamental facing

tympanum—recessed space enclosed by slanting cor-
nices of a pediment

vault—an arched chamber

vestibule—small entrance hall of a building
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